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PALM DESERT - October 23, 1920 - August 16, 
2019

Jeanne B. McLaughlin passed away peacefully in 
Palm Desert on the 16th of August. She was born 
in Pittsfield, Ma in 1920 and grew up in Bridgeport, 
CT. She was a graduate of Basick High School and 
Katherine Gibbs College in New York. Jeanne was 
an avid dancer and performed as a Rockette at Ra-
dio City Music Hall. During War II she worked for 
Chance Vought and Sikorsky Aircraft in key secre-
tarial positions and was one of the first women to 
fly in a helicopter. After the war she toured with the 
USO in both the Pacific and European Theaters. Of her many adventures 
during her touring, most notable was her attending the Nuremberg Trials. 
Also of note, after returning to the U.S.  she became Charles Lindbergh’s 
executive secretary in Darien, CT. This included her working with many 
luminaries from business and the military as well helping Mr. Lindbergh 
with his biographical account, The Spirit of St. Louis. She was especially 
close with Ann Morrow Lindbergh.

In 1954, she married  William L. McLaughlin MD, a professor of medi-
cine at Dartmouth Medical School. This necessitated a move to Hanover, 
NH. There they had three children. In 1960 the family moved to Tiburon, 
CA and then in 1963,  to Palm Springs where Dr. McLaughlin practiced 
medicine for many years. After his death in 1998 Jeanne continued on here 
in the desert for a total of 55 years (including summers)! She was an excel-
lent skier, tennis player and even dabbled in hang gliding! She was known 
for her warmth, ability to read people, generosity, and amazing sense of 
humor! While the kids were growing up, Jeanne was active with the Palm 
Valley School, serving dutifully in a number of capacities. Her children’s 
friends would often remark, “your mom is so cool”. She no doubt inherited 
abilities with people from her charismatic, political insider father, Norman 
H. Biltz, the “Duke of Nevada” who was famous (to some, infamous) for 
running both political parties in the Silver State.  She had a deep, spoiling 
love of animals. She was never without a dog by her side,  even until the 
day she passed away.

Jeanne is survived by her son Michael McLaughlin (wife Diane) of Vir-
ginia Beach, VA. and daughter Cora McLaughlin of Cathedral City, CA. 
Also survived by three step children William “Chip” McLaughlin of Florida, 
John “Jay” McLaughlin (wife Peggy Ann) of Brentwood, CA and Heather 
McLaughlin McCurry of South Hampton,  MA.

A celebration of her life is planned for October 26th at the family home 
in Cathedral City. Friends and family are welcome. Please call Cora at 760-
587-7952  or Mike 831-334-5365 for details or just to catch up.

If preferred, Cora can be emailed at coramclaughlin@hotmail.com
Mike at deltav427@gmail.com
In lieu  of flowers please contribute to the ASPCA or Audubon Society

Jeanne B. McLaughlin

RANCHO MIRAGE - Surrounded by loved ones, 
Bart Johnson, 94, died peacefully on Sept. 23, 2019, 
at his home in Rancho Mirage. After battling cancer 
and Parkinson’s disease with courage and grace, 
Bart passed peacefully to God, secure in his faith.

Born in Rockford, IL, on Feb. 16, 1925, Bart was 
the son of Harry and Della Johnson. The second of 
two children, Bart was close with his brother, Stan, 
and the two maintained a dear friendship that lasted 
their entire lives, crossing generations through the 
relationships of their children and grandchildren. 
The Johnson family moved to Los Angeles when 
Bart was in junior high.

Through the Navy V-12 program, Bart earned his pre-medical degree 
from the University of California Los Angeles. Though he finished his 
undergraduate work in less than three years, his love of the Bruins lasted 
a lifetime. An avid sports fan, Bart held season tickets to UCLA football 
games for decades and was known to lead an 8-clap at family gatherings 
and holiday events.

The Navy then sent Bart on to Northwestern University for Dental School, 
where he graduated first in his class. He served in the Navy for 16 years, both 
as a medical officer and in the reserves, before returning to Los Angeles to 
open his dental practice, which he operated for more than 40 years.

In 1970, Bart married Judie, the love of his life. The two combined their 
families—each with three children—who affectionally call themselves “The 
Barty Bunch.” The couple raised their six children and many dogs together, 
filling their home with laughter and love. They instilled in their children 
and grandchildren a strong sense of togetherness, instigating summer family 
trips to Balboa Island, festive holiday traditions and more.

Judie and Bart traveled frequently and truly loved seeing the world together, 
including trips to China, Japan, Israel, France, Italy and many more. Their 
home base was Encino, where they were entrenched in their community 
and active members of the congregation at Bel Air Presbyterian Church.

The two eventually settled in Rancho Mirage, where Bart could enjoy 
some of his greatest pleasures: golf, books, and bridge—which he is said to 
have taken as seriously as his medical exams.

Bart was a man of the highest integrity, morals and a man of deep and 
abiding faith. He is survived by his wife, Judie; his six children, Kathy, Brian, 
Dana, Bryn, Greg, and Colleen, and their spouses; 10 grandchildren; and 
one great-grandchild.

A celebration of life will be held at 2:30 pm on October 13, 2019, at Desert 
Springs Church in Palm Desert. A light supper will follow.

Well done, my good and faithful servant!  Matthew 25:21
In lieu of flowers, donations may be made to http://parkinsonsresource.

org or sent to: Parkinson’s Resource Organization, 74090 El Paseo #104, 
Palm Desert, CA 92260.

Bart Johnson

Thanks for the memories

The first written reference to a library
in Palm Springs appears 1919 in “Our Ar-
aby,” where J. Smeaton Chase recorded
the presence of “a minute Public Library
housed in a quaint little hutch of adobe,
which, half a century ago was the Stage
Station ...”

Henry Weiss, the city library decades
later noted that before the town had a
telephone or a single paved road, it had a
tiny library.

Almost two decades before incorpo-
rating as a city in 1938, Palm Springs in-
vested in having a library. Mr. Weiss
points out that having a library was one
of the highest priorities of early pio-
neers, since it preceded nearly every
other municipal service by many years.
Weiss described the “unabashed rever-
ence” the citizens had for their public li-
brary throughout the 20th century and
traced its history.

Welwood Murray arrived in the emp-
ty desert that would become Palm
Springs and opened an hotel in 1886. His
personal book collection was available
for his guests and he generously offered
loan books to any interested local resi-
dent, of whom there were precious few.

Murray would read from his collec-
tion of Shakespeare to entertain guests
for the evening. The need for such
amusements added continuously to his
offerings. After his death and the de-
mise of the hotel, his collection was
moved to the rear of the former stage-
coach station at the turn of the 19th to
the 20th century.

Nellie Coffman continued the prac-
tice of maintaining a library for guests
and loaning books to locals at the Desert
Inn starting with her inaugural season
in 1909.

There were several locations for the
diminutive lending library in the early
days. Donated private book collections
and the occasional tome left by a forget-
ful traveler making up the available ti-
tles. There was no funding for a librari-
an, so the honor system was employed.
Borrowers filled out a card, and left it on
the desk after choosing a book to take
home.

Raymond Cree came to Palm Springs
in 1919 to restore his health and found
the little lending library in the back of

the stagecoach station. Impressed with
the idea, he also began to loan books
from his real estate office, developing a
reading room in 1920. Cree’s collection
was comprised of discarded books from
the Riverside County Library.

In 1923, a wealthy visitor, Martha
Hitchcock arrived in Palm Springs hop-
ing the arid climate would cure her sis-
ter Alleine from tuberculosis. Alleine
did not survive, but Martha had been
charmed by the village and its little
lending library and decided to endow it.
She donated the handsome sum of $200
to make a memorial library in honor of
her sister. Administered by the Presby-
terian Church board, the library was
also given 25 shares of Oahu Sugar
stock to cover operations.

A Library Board of Trustees was ap-

pointed by the church elders and the Al-
leine Memorial Library opened in late
1925. The board was composed of Ray-
mond Cree, J.O. Wilke, M.D., J.J. Kocher,
M.D., (who would commission Albert
Frey to design him a building after Frey
was recommended by his brother A.
Lawrence Kocher in New York) and Rev-
erend F. H. Hixsell.

1925 was an auspicious year as
Thomas O’Donnell moved to town.
O’Donnell loaned Nellie Coffman the
enormous amount of $350,000 to im-
prove her Desert Inn in exchange for her
building him an house on the mountain-
side behind the hotel.

The Board of Library Trustees indus-
triously set about raising funds, orga-
nizing books, renting space, and hiring a
real Columbia-educated librarian all

while moving around to several differ-
ent locations, including at the plaza.

Francis Crocker was appointed to the
library board in 1934. Crocker kept
watch on the little library from his office
across from the church. He began to
dream about a proper public library. He
was an engineer who had helped devel-
op the water system, electricity network
and 30 years later would be instrumen-
tal in creating the Palm Springs Aerial
Tramway.

In summertime of 1939, a little more
than a year after becoming a city, Palm
Springs established the public library as
one of its first legislative acts. The inde-
pendent library board would have to be
integrated into the city’s operations in
order to create a true public library.

Fundraising began in earnest so that
an august building, worthy of a city li-
brary could be commissioned. John Por-
ter Clark was engaged to design a build-
ing that would sit on land donated by
Welwood Murray’s son, George, with
the provision that the library be named
for his father.

Immediately, Tom O’Donnell donat-
ed $10,000, nearly half the anticipated
building cost. Alvah Hicks, the head of
the water company, who had coinciden-
tally also been staked to that business
by O’Donnell, donated $1,000. The Des-
ert Inn and the El Mirador Hotel, and
other prominent citizens, including
Fred Markham of Smoke Tree Ranch
each contributed $1,000. Julia Carnell,
builder of the Plaza and Carl Lykken,
owner of the general store donated $500
each. In all, they collected $26,500 for
the cause. And Cornelia White donated
an additional strip of land adding to the
site.

John Porter Clark delivered the Wel-
wood Murray Memorial Library at some
four thousand square feet in 1941 quite
literally at the center of town, on what is
now Tahquitz and Palm Canyon.

The elegant design was formal but
not off-putting. The building was, (and
is) proportioned perfectly, topped with
terracotta tiles, and punctuated with
large windows affording a gracious light
inside by which to read. 

The library was embraced by the citi-
zens and was exceedingly well used and
even more loved. It expanded its collec-
tion and professionalized its offerings,
serving the city for the next three dec-
ades.

How the city of Palm Springs got its library
Tracy Conrad
Special to Palm Springs Desert Sun
USA TODAY NETWORK

This is the interior of the Welwood Murray Memorial Library, with its circular
reference desk. PHOTOS COURTESY OF THE PALM SPRINGS HISTORICAL SOCIETY

Welwood
Murray
Memorial
Library is seen
circa 1950.
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